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Gail Slater, the Assistant Attorney General for the Antitrust Division, Department of Justice, suggests that the antitrust
leadership of both political parties “underenforced our century-old antitrust laws for several decades,” accepting “false
economic theories of self-correction” of markets negatively impacted by anticompetitive conduct and dominant firms.
Gail Slater, The Conservative Roots of America First Enforcement (Apr. 28, 2025). Federal Trade Commission
Commissioner Mark Meador recently criticized “the monstrously swollen firms who've hollowed out communities,

raised prices, distorted labor markets, corrupted the public square, or otherwise degraded quality across [the]
economy.” “Antitrust enforcement is,” according to Meador, “one of the most powerful, economy-wide tools available for
addressing” a “dehumanization of economic life” associated with “the size and power of the largest companies” that
have “ballooned to unprecedented levels.” Mark Meador, Antitrust’s Populist Soul (Sept. 15, 2025). “Big is bad.”
Mark Meador, Antitrust Policy for the Conservative (May 1, 2025).

The first nine months of enforcement choices show some tension with these positions, as most initial enforcement
actions of the President’s term have substantially aligned with the practices of past Republican administrations or the
enforcement priorities of the Biden Administration. This is particularly true with respect to merger matters, where the
Trump Administration has rejected the previous administration’s anti-merger policies and returned to the historically
common practice of accepting settlements to resolve potential anticompetitive effects in large mergers. In non-merger
matters, the Administration has continued the Biden Administration’s efforts in several areas, including a continuing
interest in developing the law on algorithmic price setting, and enforcement against interlocking directorates and
employer-required non-compete agreements. Significant enforcement matters from the summer of 2025 are illustrative
and are discussed below. But, the Administration’s interest in removing regulatory barriers to competition, and the use
of regulation by competitors to displace competition, offers an opportunity for the antitrust agencies to play a significant
role in opening up markets and encouraging entry and expansion by smaller and innovative firms. These efforts — in
which the FTC and Antitrust Division are playing a leading role — are just beginning. And, the Antitrust Division’s
aggressive use of its ability to file Statements of Interest in private litigation, without taking a position on the merits of
the litigation, is a powerful tool with potential long run effects on the development of antitrust law in a manner
consistent with the Administration’s enforcement priorities.

A. ALGORITHMIC PRICE SETTING AND INFORMATION EXCHANGE

In August, the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) settled with one of the participants in an allegedly illegal rental price-
setting information exchange agreement. In August 2024, the DOJ, with co-plaintiff States, filed a civil antitrust
complaint against RealPage, Inc. and in January 2025, filed an amended complaint adding Greystar Management
Services, LLC (one of the largest apartment managers in the United States) and five other property-management
companies as defendants. The amended complaint alleges that Greystar (and others) violated Section 1 of the
Sherman Act by (1) sharing confidential, competitively sensitive information with RealPage for use in competitors’
pricing, and (2) agreeing to align its pricing with competitors through RealPage’s revenue-management software.
Greystar licenses RealPage’s Al Revenue Management product and, under its licensing agreement, provided
RealPage with daily, competitively sensitive, non-public data (e.g., lease renewals, terms, and prices). RealPage used
this data to generate pricing recommendations for all participating landlords, including Greystar’s competitors.

An August 2025 settlement with Greystar prohibits Greystar from licensing or using any revenue-management product
that (i) employs third-party, non-public data to set prices or generate recommendations, (ii) pools information across
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Greystar properties owned by different owners, (iii) discloses Greystar property data to rival landlords, (iv) contains a
pricing algorithm trained on competitors’ non-public data, or (v) sets floor-plan limits based on competing properties’
rents. Justice Department Reached Proposed Settlement with Greystar, the Largest U.S. Landlord, to End its
Participation in Algorithmic Pricing Scheme (Aug. 8, 2025).

The Administration previously filed a Statement of Interest in private information exchange cases. In one, it opposed
the defendant’s proposed heightened pleading standard for Section 1 information exchange claims when the exchange
was mediated by a third-party intermediary. Statement of Interest of the United States, In re Granulated Sugar
Antitrust Litigation (MDL No. 24-3110, D. Mn.) (Jun. 24, 2025). In another, it noted to the district court that, contrary to
defendant’s position, “there can be concerted action subject to Section 1 [through the use of an algorithm] . . . even if
the conspirators have some discretion in choosing how often to follow” the algorithm’s pricing recommendation and
that “sharing information through an algorithm provider can create the same anticompetitive effects as a direct
exchange between competitors.” Statement of Interest of the United States, In re Multiplan Health Insurance
Provider Litigation (MDL No. 3121, N.D. lll.) (Mar. 27, 2025). See also Statement of Interest of the United States, In
re Pork Litigation (No. 18-cv-01776, D. Mn.) (Oct. 1, 2024).

B. MERGERS

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC” or the “Commission”) filed for a preliminary injunction to enjoin Edwards
Lifesciences Corporation’s proposed acquisition of JenaValve Technology’s two medical device companies, neither
of which has commercialized a product in the alleged “overlapping” market for a transcatheter aortic valve replacement
(“TAVR”) device for the treatment of aortic regurgitation (“AR”). Nevertheless, the FTC challenged the proposed
combination, alleging that it will eliminate existing head-to-head innovation and quality competition between the two
firms in the market for TAVR-AR devices. FTC Challenges Anticompetitive Medical Device Deal (Aug. 6, 2025).

The FTC also seeks to enjoin a “partnership agreement” between Zillow Inc. and Redfin Corporation that, in
exchange for a $100 million payment and future compensation, “dismantle[d] Redfin as a competitor in the market for
internet listing services” and facilitated the transfer of certain of Redfin’s assets — business contracts, customer
relationships and personnel — to Zillow. Zillow and Redfin also agreed to serve “as an exclusive syndicator of Zillow
listings” in exchange for additional compensation. The FTC alleges a violation of both Section 1 of the Sherman Act
(an illegal agreement in restraint of trade) and of Section 7 of the Clayton Act (an anticompetitive acquisition of
assets). The partnership is vulnerable to a Section 1 claim because it does not “pool capital or resources or share
risks.” Also note the classification of “employees” as assets of Redfin; this may allow for the development of case law
that the Commission (or DOJ) may use to challenge so-called “aqui-hire” transactions (especially in but not limited to
the tech-space) as anticompetitive and subject to challenge under either or both Section 1 and Section 7.
(Commentators have suggested that the labor exemption may preclude a Section 1 or Section 7 challenge to aqui-
hires. 15 U.S. Code § 17 holds that human labor is not a "commodity or article of commerce." ) FTC Sues Zillow and
Redfin Over lllegal Agreement to Suppress Rental Advertising Competition (Sept. 30, 2025).

The Antitrust Division accepted a settlement addressing its competitive concerns with Hewlett Packard
Enterprise’s (“HPE”) proposed $14 billion acquisition of Juniper Networks. Earlier this year, the Antitrust Division filed
suit to block the transaction, alleging harm in the market for enterprise-grade wireless local area network (“WLAN”)
solutions. Justice Department Requires Divestitures and Licensing Commitments in HPE’s Acquisition of
Juniper Networks (Jun. 28, 2025). In August, the DOJ reached a settlement with UnitedHealth Group, Inc. and
Amedisys, Inc., in the proposed merger of two of the largest home health and hospice service providers in the
country. In November 2024, the DOJ had sought to block the transaction, alleging that the proposed merger was
“presumptively anticompetitive and illegal in hundreds of local markets across America.” Justice Department
Requires Broad Divestitures to Resolve Challenge to United Health’s Acquisition of Amedisys (Aug. 7. 2025).
DOJ abandoned a third matter prior to trial — the previous administration’s challenge to American Express Global
Business Travel's proposed acquisition of CWT Holdings. The Division appears to have accepted the parties’
argument that CWT Holdings was unlikely to continue to be a significant competitor in the future, absent the merger.

The Administration continues to accept settlements in lieu of litigation. The DOJ accepted a settlement addressing its
competitive concerns with Safran S.A.’s proposed $1.8 billion acquisition of RTX Corporation. Justice Department
Requires Safran to Divest Assets to Proceed with Acquisition of Raytheon Assets (Jun. 17, 2025). The FTC
settled its concerns with Alimentation Couche-Tard’s proposed $1.57 billion acquisition of 270 retail fuel assets from
Giant Eagle by requiring the divestiture of 35 retail fuel stations in Indiana, Ohio, and Pennsylvania. FTC Takes
Action to Prevent Anticompetitive Effects of Retail Gas Station Deal (Jun. 26, 2025). The FTC also accepted a
settlement to address its concerns from the proposed $13.5 billion acquisition of Interpublic Group by Omnicom
Group. The Commission alleged that the combination of two of the six largest firms offering media buying services


https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-reaches-proposed-settlement-greystar-largest-us-landlord-end-its
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-reaches-proposed-settlement-greystar-largest-us-landlord-end-its
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1404496/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1394631/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1371806/dl
https://techfreedom.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/FTC-v.-Edwards-Lifesciences-Corp.-Complaint.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/08/ftc-challenges-anticompetitive-medical-device-deal
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/ZillowGroup-Complaint.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/09/ftc-sues-zillow-redfin-over-illegal-agreement-suppress-rental-advertising-competition
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/09/ftc-sues-zillow-redfin-over-illegal-agreement-suppress-rental-advertising-competition
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1406596/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1406591/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-requires-divestitures-and-licensing-commitments-hpes-acquisition-juniper
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-requires-divestitures-and-licensing-commitments-hpes-acquisition-juniper
https://www.justice.gov/opa/media/1410291/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1383616/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-requires-broad-divestitures-resolve-challenge-unitedhealths-acquisition
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-requires-broad-divestitures-resolve-challenge-unitedhealths-acquisition
https://www.justice.gov/archives/opa/media/1383711/dl
https://www.justice.gov/opa/media/1403846/dl
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1404141/dl
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-requires-safran-divest-assets-proceed-acquisition-raytheon-assets
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-requires-safran-divest-assets-proceed-acquisition-raytheon-assets
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/ACTDOFINAL.pdf.1.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/ACTComplaint%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/06/ftc-takes-action-prevent-anticompetitive-effects-retail-gas-station-deal
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/06/ftc-takes-action-prevent-anticompetitive-effects-retail-gas-station-deal
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/OmnicomOrder.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/2410059C4823OmnicomComplaint.pdf

could lead to an increased likelihood of coordination or collusion in the market for “media buying services.” To address
the FTC’s concerns, Omnicom is required to cease and desist from participation in any existing or future agreement or
understanding with respect to media buying services that directs advertising spending based on political or ideological
viewpoints of a publisher. FTC Alters Final Consent Order in Response to Comments, Preventing Coordination
in Global Advertising Merger (Sept. 26, 2025). (The Administration’s interest in preventing the censoring or
moderating of viewpoint perspectives is also reflected in the DOJ’s Statement of Interest in Children’s Health
Defense, et al., v. WP Company, LLC d/b/a The Washington Post, British Broadcasting Corp., Associated Press,
Reuters News & Media, Inc. (Civ. No. 1:23-cv-2735 D.D.C.) (Jul. 11, 2025). There, according to the DOJ, the
defendants had moved to dismiss the complaint, arguing that “suppressing competition in the marketplace of ideas ...
is not a cognizable antitrust injury.” The DOJ’s filing supported the plaintiffs’ contention that the Sherman Act applies to
restraints on viewpoint competition in the news market.)

The antitrust agencies (i.e., the FTC and the DOJ) announced the closing of two significant merger investigations. The
DOJ closed its investigation of T-Mobile’s proposed $4.4 billion acquisition of UScellular after its investigation showed
that “UScellular simply could not keep up with the escalating cost of capital improvements in technology required to
compete vigorously” absent the merger. Statement of the Department of Justice Antitrust Division on the Closing
of Its Investigation of the Merger of T-Mobile and UScellular (Jul. 10, 2025). The FTC closed its nearly one-year
investigation of Mars Inc.’s proposed $36 billion acquisition of Kellanova. Statement on the Grant of Early
Termination of the FTC’s Investigation of the Proposed Acquisition of Kellanova by Mars (Jun. 25, 2025).

For more background on the antitrust agencies’ theories of harm in these merger matters, the remedies accepted to
clear the transactions, and other merger-related developments over the summer, see U.S. Antitrust Agency Merger
Enforcement Roundup and Commentary (Quorum, Sept. 2025) and U.S. Antitrust Agency Merger Roundup and
Commentary (Quorum, Jul. 2025).

C. INTERLOCKING DIRECTORATES

Section 8 of the Clayton Act prohibits individuals from simultaneously serving as directors or officers at two competing
companies. The Biden Administration was active in investigating and remedying such interlocks. The Trump
Administration is continuing this enforcement priority. In September, the FTC announced the resignation of three
(unnamed) board members of Sevita Health. Each of the resigning individuals served as a director of both Sevita
Health and Beacon Specialized Living Services. Both companies offer residential services for individuals with
intellectual and developmental disabilities. In announcing the resignations, the FTC encouraged companies to
proactively audit board memberships, particularly when private equity investors or new stockholders obtain new board
seats. Three Directors Resign from Sevita Board of Directors in Response to the FTC’s Ongoing Enforcement
Efforts Against Interlocking Directorates (Sept. 15, 2025).

For more guidance on the FTC and DOJ efforts to enforce the prohibition against interlocked boards, see Trump
Administration Likely to Continue Biden Administration’s Efforts to Identify and Remediate Interlocking
Directorates (Competition Close-Up, Jun. 2025); The Biden Administration’s Extensive Review of Interlocking
Directorates Across the Entire Economy May Put Your Board Representation at Risk (May 2024); and FTC &
DOJ: Board Observers Are Subject to the Antitrust Laws Prohibition on Interlocking Directorates (Jan. 2025).

D. NON-COMPETE AGREEMENTS

The Commission has acceded to the vacatur of the Non-Compete Clause Rule (as held in Ryan LLC v. Federal Trade
Commission, 746 F. Supp.3d. 369 (2024) and, consistent with the FTC’s request, two appellate courts have dismissed
the Commission’s earlier challenges to decisions preventing enforcement of the Rule. Notwithstanding the
Commission’s dismissal of its appeals of the unfavorable decisions, FTC Chairman Andrew Ferguson indicated that the
Commission will “protect American workers by . . . patrolling . . . markets for specific anticompetitive conduct that hurts
American . . . workers and taking bad actors to court.” Statement of Chairman Andrew N. Ferguson Joined by
Commissioner Melissa Holyoak, Ryan LLC v. FTC, at 3 (Sept. 5, 2025).

Consistent with this continuing interest, in September 2025, the FTC:

1. Challenged Gateway Services’ use of employee non-compete agreements across its pet cremation business,
alleging that the company’s requirement that all employees (except those in California) agree to a 12-month,
post-employment covenant not to compete was an unfair method of competition and prohibited by Section 5 of
the FTC Act. The Commission’s proposed Order addressing its complaint prohibits Gateway from entering into,
maintaining, or enforcing (or threatening to enforce) a certain non-compete agreement and, among other things,


https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/09/ftc-alters-final-consent-order-response-public-comments-preventing-coordination-global-advertising
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/09/ftc-alters-final-consent-order-response-public-comments-preventing-coordination-global-advertising
https://www.justice.gov/atr/media/1407666/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/statement-department-justice-antitrust-division-closing-its-investigation-merger-t-mobile
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/statement-department-justice-antitrust-division-closing-its-investigation-merger-t-mobile
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/06/statement-grant-early-termination-ftcs-investigation-proposed-acquisition-kellanova-mars
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/06/statement-grant-early-termination-ftcs-investigation-proposed-acquisition-kellanova-mars
https://www.cadwalader.com/quorum/index.php?nid=17&eid=81
https://www.cadwalader.com/quorum/index.php?nid=17&eid=81
https://www.cadwalader.com/quorum/index.php?nid=16&eid=76
https://www.cadwalader.com/quorum/index.php?nid=16&eid=76
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/09/three-directors-resign-sevita-board-directors-response-ftcs-ongoing-enforcement-efforts-against
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2025/09/three-directors-resign-sevita-board-directors-response-ftcs-ongoing-enforcement-efforts-against
https://www.cadwalader.com/CompetitionCloseUp/index.php?eid=6&nid=1
https://www.cadwalader.com/CompetitionCloseUp/index.php?eid=6&nid=1
https://www.cadwalader.com/CompetitionCloseUp/index.php?eid=6&nid=1
https://www.cadwalader.com/resources/clients-friends-memos/the-biden-administrations-extensive-review-of-interlocking-directorates-across-the-entire-economy-may-put-your-board-representation-at-risk
https://www.cadwalader.com/resources/clients-friends-memos/the-biden-administrations-extensive-review-of-interlocking-directorates-across-the-entire-economy-may-put-your-board-representation-at-risk
https://www.cadwalader.com/resources/clients-friends-memos/ftc--doj--board-observers-are-subject-to-the-antitrust-laws-prohibition-on-interlocking-directorates
https://www.cadwalader.com/resources/clients-friends-memos/ftc--doj--board-observers-are-subject-to-the-antitrust-laws-prohibition-on-interlocking-directorates
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/ferguson-holyoak-statement-re-noncompete-acceding-vacatur.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/ferguson-holyoak-statement-re-noncompete-acceding-vacatur.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/Gateway-Complaint.pdf
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/ftc_gov/pdf/Gateway-DecisionOrder.pdf

prohibits Gateway from preventing certain employees from “soliciting current or prospective customers,” except
with respect to those current or prospective customers with whom the employee in the last 12 months of his or
her employment, had direct contract or personally provided service.

2. Encouraged “members of the public including current and former employers restricted by noncompete
agreements, and employers facing hiring difficulties due to a rival’s noncompete agreements . . . to share
information” with the FTC to “uproot the worst offenders and restore fairness to the American labor market.”
Federal Trade Commission Issues Request for Information on Employee Noncompete Agreements (Sept.
4, 2025). In support, the Commission released an extensive request for information on the use of non-
competes “to understand which specific employers continue to impose noncompete agreements.” Request for
Information Regarding Employer Noncompete Agreements (Sept. 4, 2025). (Responses to the request are
due no later than November 3, 2025.)

3. Issued warning letters to “several large healthcare employers and staffing firms urging them to conduct a
comprehensive review of their employment agreements — including any non-competes or other restrictive
agreements — to ensure they are appropriately tailored and comply with the law.” FTC Chairman Ferguson
Issues Noncompete Warning Letters to Healthcare Employers and Staffing Companies (Sept. 10, 2025).

4. Announced a workshop by the FTC’s Labor Task Force (on October 8) to “highlight the negative impact of non-
compete agreements on American workers and put businesses on notice of [the Commission’s] enforcement
priorities.” FTC Announces Workshop on Noncompete Agreement (Sept. 17, 2025).

We strongly suggest that employers that use non-compete agreements review the scope and breadth of those
agreements to confirm that they are consistent with applicable law, including the Commission’s interpretation of Section
5 of the FTC Act, which prohibits the use of unfair methods of competition.

See The Federal Trade Commission “Strongly Encourage[s] All Employers . . . to Review their Contracts
Closely, to Ensure That Any Restrictions on Employee Mobility are in Full Compliance with the Law” for a more
detailed discussion of the Gateway Services enforcement action and the analysis which the FTC Commissioners are
applying to evaluate the legality of employee non-compete agreements.

E. CONCLUSION: THE DEREGULATORY AGENDA

To date, the enforcement decisions of the Trump Administration do not appear significantly out of step with past
Republican presidential administrations of the past four decades; where they do, they appear to align with priorities of
the Biden Administration. However, the Commission and the Antitrust Division have taken leading roles in the
Administration’s deregulation effort.

In a matter highlighting how firms may use regulation to inhibit competition and enforce output restrictions, the
Commission investigated an agreement among several truck and engine manufacturers and their trade association
with the California Air Resources Board (“CARB”). The “Clean Truck Partnership” required manufacturers to produce
“zero emissions” engines rather than internal combustion engines. Early in the Administration, the EPA waiver
supporting CARB’s authority to promulgate the relevant regulation underpinning the partnership agreement was
rescinded. The Commission was concerned that the truck manufacturers would continue to adhere to the restriction in
the agreement notwithstanding rescission of the relevant waiver. The Commission closed its investigation after
receiving commitments from the manufacturers that they would not attempt to enforce compliance with the agreement.
According to the FTC’s Bureau of Competition, “CARB’s regulatory overreach posed a major threat to American
trucking and . . . presented serious antitrust concerns.” FTC Resolves Antitrust Concerns Arising from Clean Truck
Partnership (Aug. 12, 2025).

The Administration’s deregulatory effort — directed at removing regulatory and legal barriers to competition — appears to
be an alternative to the Biden Administration’s Executive Order on Competition and presents a significant opportunity
for firms wishing to expand into new lines of business, introduce new products and services, and move more quickly in
transitioning from one market to another to identify those regulations that limit, slow or forbid expansion and entry. In
August, the President revoked the Biden Administration Executive Order, to acclaim from the leadership of the
Antitrust Division and Federal Trade Commission: “America First Antitrust focuses on empowering the American
people in the free markets, not enabling regulators and bureaucrats to prescribe outcomes.” Statement of Assistant
Attorney General Abigail Slater (Aug. 13, 2025). In September, the Federal Trade Commission, working with the
Antitrust Division, recommended over 125 federal regulations for deletion or revision, in support of encouraging and
facilitating competition. FTC Recommends Anticompetitive Regulations for Deletion or Revision (Sept. 17, 2025).
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The deregulatory agenda represents a significant threat to market incumbents that rely on those regulations to limit
competition. See Federal Trade Commission Launches Public Inquiry as It Prepares to Lead President Trump’s
Effort to Modify and Rescind Anticompetitive Federal Regulations (May 2025).
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